### **RECEIVED**

09-28-2015

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### COURT OF APPEALS

#### **DISTRICT III**

Case No. 2014AP002445 - CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

PAUL L. LINDE,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Forest County Circuit Court, the Honorable Fred W. Kawalski, Presiding

## BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

STEVEN D. GRUNDER Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1068023

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 266-8374 grunders@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

###

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Did the trial court err in denying Mr. Linde's motion to suppress, where the only suggestion of recent drug activity was an anonymous tip providing Mr. Linde's name and address, and the bare conclusion that the caller had "seen" marijuana plants "at" Mr. Linde's cabin approximately a week earlier?

The trial court found that there was probable cause to issue a search warrant, based on the tip and the fact that Mr. Linde had been arrested for cultivating marijuana plants approximately one year prior to the tip.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

According to the criminal complaint, a caller informed the Forest County Sheriff's Department that the caller had been in Paul Linde's cabin and had observed "a large indoor marijuana grow." (8:2). The caller had observed a number of marijuana plants. (8:3). Based on this tip, received on August 26, 2011 (4:4)and additional information, officers obtained a search warrant for the cabin (8:3). On August 30, 2011, officers searched the cabin and the vehicles parked there. (8:3). Eighteen marijuana plants were seized from the cabin, along with a bong and numerous containers of dried marijuana. (Id.). A truck parked in the driveway contained a pipe, rolling papers, marijuana, planting pots and fertilizer. (*Id.*).

Mr. Linde was charged with five counts: 1) Manufacture / Delivery of THC (between 200 and 1000 grams, or between 4 and 20 plants), as a party to the crime, contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 961.41(1)(h)(2) & 939.05;

2) Possession of Drug Paraphernalia, 1 as a party to the crime, contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 961.573(1) & 939.05; 3) Possession of Drug Paraphernalia, 2 contrary to Wis. Stat. § 961.573(1); 4) Possession of THC, as a party to the crime, contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 961.41(3g)(e) & 939.05; and 5) Felony Bail Jumping, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 946.49(1)(b). (8:1-2). At the time of his arrest in the above-captioned case, Mr. Linde was under bond conditions in Oconto County Case No. 10-CF-137. (8:4).

Mr. Linde waived his right to a preliminary hearing. (14; 62). On October 11, 2011, an information was filed charging the same counts alleged in the complaint. (13).

Mr. Linde's attorney filed a motion to suppress evidence derived from the search warrant, alleging that the warrant was defective for three reasons. (20). First, the tip was not proven reliable, and therefore was to be afforded no weight. (20:1). Second, the warrant affidavit included information regarding a July, 9, 2010, seizure of marijuana from Mr. Linde's truck,<sup>3</sup> which was too remote in time to support probable cause. (*Id.*). Third, the search warrant was issued by a court commissioner, who did not have the constitutional authority to do so. (*Id.*) Counsel acknowledged that the third issue was pending in the Wisconsin Supreme Court, with oral argument scheduled for December 1, 2011. (*Id.*).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This count was for the bong in the cabin.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This count was for the pipe and rolling papers in the truck.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> CCAP indicates that this seizure was the basis of the charges in Oconto County Case No. 10-CF-137, for which, as indicated above, Mr. Linde was under bond conditions at the time of his arrest in the instant case.

The suppression motion was further briefed by the parties. (22; 23; 24). A partial oral decision, denying suppression, was rendered by the circuit court on February 24, 2012. (59; App. 104-120). First, the court found that the tip had indicia of reliability.

And the court's analysis of an anonymous tip is basically considering two factors. These are my review and summary from all of the case law that's been submitted by counsel. And the first of which is whether or not the informing can be determined to be truthful or whether information has an indicia of veracity.

And secondly the court has to look at what is the informant's basis of knowledge. And that has to be viewed in light of the totality of the circumstances. In this particular case in here we have the anonymous tip was that the Linde household contained within that structure was a, what was referred to as a grow operation. And this was the basis of the tip.

The identity of the informant was not provided. Apparently his identity was obtained at the later date but I would agree with defense counsel that that later date acknowledgement of his identity does not I believe solve that problem. But at least in any event, when the information was provided the tip was anonymous. So in view of that, an anonymous tip is not improper. It's just that it changes what the duties or obligations of law enforcement are with respect to such a tip.

. . . .

Here there was not a working relationship between the tipster and law enforcement and that doesn't necessarily make the tip improper, but what it does do is require law enforcement to engage in further examination before taking action such as to seek and obtain a warrant for the search of the property.

So in this particular instance what law enforcement did is take into account that there was an incident that took place approximately a year ago where Mr. Linde was apprehended and some plants were at a different location and the knowledge that came to law enforcement is that these plants came from this location on Lake Lucerne in Forest County.

But the other aspect that the court I believe finds is determinative with respect to the information provided by the tipster, was of course there has to be some determination as to what the informant's basis of knowledge is.

• • • •

But in this particular instance what I think becomes important for this case is that the anonymous tip that was received by law enforcement contained the additional information that the tipster knew about the location of this grow operation because he had been there. He was personally there and personally observed it. So that satisfies, at least in this court's judgment, the basis of this tipster knowledge.

Now, that does not mean that the inquiry stops there. I think law enforcement has to certainly go beyond that as well to determine whether or not the tipster's information can be corroborated and in this particular instance, that corroboration was in the nature of the information obtained by Forest County law enforcement about a year ago regarding these plants that were obtained by Mr. Linde.

(59:4-7; App. 107-110).

The court also found that the information regarding the July 9, 2010, arrest was not too stale to support probable cause for a search warrant.

All right. So in any event however, this involved what we call as a grow operation, and that is a, an endeavor that is of considerable investment in terms of time, in terms of property. We've had several cases in Langlade County involving grow operations and I'm aware of the fact that they involve plants, they involve soil, they involve lighting apparatus of sorts to apparently to provide substantial light to these plants, there is fertilizers. And so therefore, you know, these are things that are more of a permanent nature so I'm not convinced that the fact that the information which corroborated the anonymous tipster was information that was obtained a year earlier, that it is stale for reasons of the nature of the information that was eventually provided.

(59:8-9; App. 111-112).

Trial counsel objected to the court's reference to the court's knowledge of grow operations, arguing that the longevity of grow operations was not addressed within the four corners of the search warrant and its supporting affidavit. (59:11-13; App. 114-116).<sup>4</sup> The court overruled the objection.

Well again, the terminology that was used in the warrant was a grow operation. When I'm describing is what is typically associated with a grow operation, I don't know that a warrant has actually got to go into analysis what a grow operation is regarding smell, number of plants or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The suppression motion was argued and briefed by both counsel for Mr. Linde, and his wife, Rita, who had been charged with similar drug and paraphernalia counts in Forest County Case No. 11-CF-87. Because both cases arose from evidence derived from one warrant, the suppression litigation was resolved at a common hearing. Henry Schultz, Mrs. Linde's attorney, made the substantive argument about extraneous information; Bayne Allison, Mr. Linde's attorney, joined the objection.

lighting. I don't know that the warrant has to be that verbose as to cover all of those areas.

(59:14-15; App. 117-118).

Because the court commissioner's authority to issue a warrant was soon to be decided by the supreme court, the circuit court deferred its ruling on that issue until a decision was released. (59:10-11; App. 113-114). On May 30, 2012, the supreme court issued its decision in *State v. Douglas Williams*, 2012 WI 59, 341 Wis. 2d 191, 814 N.W.2d 460. The court concluded that a commissioner does have the authority to issue a search warrant. *Id.*, ¶¶ 56-58. Based on that decision, the circuit court denied the suppression motion's outstanding claim at a hearing on June 28, 2012.<sup>5</sup> (58:4). That claim is not renewed in this appeal.

The parties negotiated a settlement, including a joint recommendation for sentencing. (46). Mr. Linde would enter pleas to two counts: Manufacture / Delivery of THC and Felony Bail Jumping. (*Id.* at 1-2). The paraphernalia and possession charges were to be dismissed and read-in. (*Id.*). For the Manufacture/Delivery count, the parties jointly recommended a withheld sentence, three years of probation with conditions including 90 days in jail, and a fine of \$1,000. (46:1, 3). For the Felony Bail Jumping Count, the parties recommended three years of probation with conditions. (46:2-3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In counsel's pagination of the record, the transcript is identified as "6/28/13 hearing." This appears to be a typographical error; there was no hearing on that date and the cover page of the transcript identifies the correct year.

The plea and sentencing hearing took place on April 2, 2013. (55). The terms of the plea agreement and sentencing recommendation were placed on the record. (*Id.* at 2-5). The state also stipulated that Mr. Linde was entitled to five days of presentence credit should his probation be revoked. (*Id.* at 2).

Mr. Linde then entered no-contest pleas to the two counts. (55:8). The court dismissed and read-in the remaining counts. (55:9).

Proceeding to sentencing, Mr. Linde exercised his right of allocution, describing the difficult personal and medical situations he had recently faced. (55:16-17). He admitted making foolish choices and getting himself in trouble, saying that he did not expect that to happen again. (*Id.* at 17).

There was some discussion regarding whether Mr. Linde was due sentence credit on a probation hold in another case, a hold placed due to the charges in the above-captioned case. (55:19-23). The only case for which Mr. Linde was on probation at the time was Oconto County No. 10-CF-137. The court declined to award the time to the instant case, because the court believed that to do so would be to give Mr. Linde double credit. (55:22-23). The court went on to adopt the joint recommendation of the parties. (*Id.* at 23; App. 101-103).

Mr. Linde filed a timely notice of intent to seek postconviction relief under Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.30, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See CCAP entry at http://wcca.wicourts.gov/caseDetails.do;jsessionid=44FC1FE386FE30C8E4E9DD14523C6BC1.render6?countyNo=42&caseNo=2010CF000137&cacheId=E99A089D65C6E996B2D67F5B0925EA66&recordCount=16&offset=10&mode=charges

undersigned counsel was appointed to represent him.

On January 9, 2015, undersigned counsel filed a no-merit brief pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 809.32 and *Anders v. California*, 386 U.S. 738 (1967).

On August 12, 2015, this court rejected the no-merit brief, finding that, "Upon our independent review of the record, we are unable to conclude that there is no arguable basis for appeal of the circuit court's order denying the motion to suppress evidence based on lack of probable cause to support the search warrant." (August 12, 2015, Order in case no. 2014AP2445-CRNM).

This appeal follows. Additional facts will be set forth as appropriate in the argument section below.

#### **ARGUMENT**

- I. The Affidavit in Support of the Search Warrant Was Insufficient Because It Relied on an Anonymous Informant Whose Veracity Was Unknown, Who Supplied Only Widely Known or Observable Information, and Whose Observational Reliability Was Only Nominally Corroborated.
  - A. Applicable principles of law.

Citizens are protected from unreasonable search and seizure by the Fourth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution and Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution, which mandate that no warrants shall issue without probable cause.

The standard of review for search warrants was stated by the Wisconsin supreme court in *State v. Higginbotham*, 162 Wis. 2d 978, 989, 421 N.W. 2d 24 (1991):

A search warrant may issue only on a finding of probable cause by a neutral and detached magistrate. We accord great deference to the warrant-issuing judge's determination of probable cause and that determination will stand unless the defendant establishes that the facts are clearly insufficient to support a finding of probable cause.

In reviewing whether there was probable cause for the issuance of a search warrant, we are confined to the record that was before the warrant-issuing judge....The duty of the reviewing court is to ensure that the magistrate had a substantial basis for concluding that the probable cause existed.

#### (internal citations omitted).

The task of the warrant-issuing magistrate is to make a decision whether, given all the circumstances set forth in the affidavit before him or her, including the veracity and basis of knowledge of persons supplying hearsay information, there is a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found in a particular place. *State v. Ward*, 2000 WI 3, ¶23, 231 Wis. 2d 723, 604 N.W.2d 517, citing *Illinois v. Gates*, 462 U.S. 213, 238 (1983). An "informant's 'basis of knowledge' and 'veracity' (*i.e.*, how he knows and why we should believe him) remain highly relevant to a determination of either probable cause or reasonable suspicion." *United States v. Elmore*, 482 F.3d 172, 179 (2nd Cir. 2007), citing *Alabama v. White*, 496 U.S. 325, 328-29 (1990).

The affidavit in support of the search warrant in this case provided an insufficient basis for the issuing magistrate to assess the veracity of the informant, whose knowledge base was not shown to extend beyond a Mr. Linde's name and address, followed by a single conclusory allegation.

B. Because the tipster was anonymous, he or she had no personal history of reliability and no personal reputation to risk by supplying misinformation.

The only information about the anonymous tip in this case appears in paragraph four of the affidavit:

On August 26<sup>th</sup>, 2011 I Captain/Deputy Jeffery A Marvin received a complaint from dispatch, a anonymous report had been called in from a cell phone that Paul L Linde had a large marijuana grow at his cabin which is located at 3479 Lake Lucerne Drive. The reporting party stated that they had been at the cabin approx. 1 week prior and seen the marijuana plants. Due to current technology the reporting party's phone number was able to be obtained.

(4:4).

The tipster in this case was anonymous. Nothing in the affidavit suggests that the police knew the identity of the informant. The police apparently obtained the number of the cell phone used to call in the tip (4:4), but there is no indication that the number was used to identify the caller. Indeed, there is no evidence that the phone was associated with any particular user.

Unlike a tip from a known informant whose reputation can be assessed and who can be held responsible if his or her allegations turn out to be fabricated, "an anonymous tip alone seldom demonstrates the informant's basis of knowledge or

veracity[.]" Florida v. J.L., 529 U.S. 266, 270 (2000), auoting Alabama v. White, 496 U.S. 325, 329 (1990). An anonymous informer's veracity must be assessed by non-identity-based means, particularly police corroboration. State v. Kolk, 2006 WI App 261, ¶12, 298 Wis. 2d 99, 110, 726 N.W. 2d 337. "[The issuing magistrate's] action cannot be a mere ratification of the bare conclusions of others." Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 239 (1983).

C. The tipster's conclusory statement contained none of the "inside" information needed to assess the reliability of an anonymous tip.

*Illinois v. Gates*, 462 U.S. 213 (1983), is the landmark case regarding anonymous information as the basis for a search warrant. In that case, police received an anonymous letter that identified two individuals by name and alleged that they transported and sold large amounts of drugs. Gates, 462 U.S. at 225. The letter described the travel arrangements through which the individuals brought drugs from Florida to Illinois. *Id*. The letter went on to inform police of the details of an upcoming drug run. *Id*. The *Gates* majority opined that the letter, standing alone, would be an insufficient basis upon which to issue a warrant. Gates at 227. There was nothing known about the letter writer, or about his or her basis for predicting the next drug run. *Id*. However, police verified that the two individuals named by the tipster were indeed going to be traveling when and how the letter writer had predicted. Gates at 243-244. It was this corroboration that provided a sufficient basis for the issuance of a warrant. Id. The corroboration sufficed because the information in the letter included "a range of details relating not just to easily obtained facts and conditions existing at the time of the tip, but to future actions of third parties ordinarily not easily predicted." *Gates* at 245.

The information provided to police in Mr. Linde's case comprised "easily obtained facts and conditions." Mr. Linde's name and address were provided by the informant. The tipster alleged that he or she had "seen the marijuana plants" "at" Mr. Linde's cabin. (4:4). This vague accusation could be made by anyone with a telephone directory, against anyone listed therein.

In *Florida v. J.L.*, the Supreme Court considered an anonymous tip as the basis for reasonable suspicion, a lower standard than the probable cause at issue in Mr. Linde's case. 529 U.S. 266 (2000). An anonymous caller had given a vague description that matched J.L., along with an assertion that the individual described had a gun. *Id.* at 268. The Court held that the tip was not enough for reasonable suspicion:

The anonymous call concerning J. L. provided no predictive information and therefore left the police without means to test the informant's knowledge or credibility.... All the police had to go on in this case was the bare report of an unknown, unaccountable informant who neither explained how he knew about the gun nor supplied any basis for believing he had inside information about J. L.

#### **J.L.**, 529 U.S. at 271.

An accurate description of a subject's readily observable location and appearance is of course reliable in this limited sense: It will help the police correctly identify the person whom the tipster means to accuse. Such a tip, however, does not show that the tipster has knowledge of concealed criminal activity. The reasonable suspicion here at issue requires that a tip be reliable in its assertion

of illegality, not just in its tendency to identify a determinate person.

#### **J.L.**, 529 U.S. at 272.

In Mr. Linde's case, as in *J.L.*, there was none of the predictive information that supported probable cause in *Gates*. There was no "means to test the informant's knowledge or credibility." There was only Mr. Linde's name, his address, and a conclusory allegation. As in *J.L.*, Mr. Linde's tipster provided information identifying an individual. The anonymous informant said that he or she had "seen" marijuana plants. But that is scarcely more informative than asserting that J.L. had a gun. There was no inside information about Mr. Linde, his residence, or his activities.

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