# RECEIVED

# STATE OF WISCONSIN 10-28-2015

# COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### DISTRICT III

Case No. 2014AP2445-CR

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

PAUL L. LINDE,

Defendant-Appellant.

# ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE FOREST COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE FRED W. KAWALSKI PRESIDING

# BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

SCOTT E. ROSENOW Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1083736

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-3539 rosenowse@doj.state.wi.us

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Did probable cause support the warrant to search Paul Linde's cabin?

The circuit court answered: Yes. The circuit court concluded that probable cause supported the search warrant because an informant told police that she "personally observed" a marijuana "grow operation" in Linde's cabin and police "corroborat[ed]" this tip by discovering that Linde was arrested "about a year ago" for possessing marijuana plants that admittedly came from his cabin (59:6-7).

2. Alternatively, did the officers rely in good faith on the search warrant such that the exclusionary rule does not apply?

The circuit court did not address this issue.

## STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION AND ORAL ARGUMENT

The State requests neither oral argument nor publication because the briefs should adequately set forth the facts and applicable precedent, and because resolution of this appeal requires only the application of well-established precedent to the facts of the case.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

As the plaintiff-respondent, the State exercises its option not to present a full statement of the case. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.19(3)(a)2. The State will supplement the statement of the facts and case as appropriate in its argument.

#### ARGUMENT

# I. Probable cause supported the warrant to search Linde's cabin.

### A. Background.

An informant called the Forest County Sheriff's Department and stated that she had been at Paul Linde's cabin and observed "a large indoor marijuana grow" operation there approximately one week earlier (8:2-3; 4:4; R-Ap. 107).<sup>1</sup> Specifically, the informant said that she had observed several marijuana plants at Linde's cabin (8:3). The informant provided the address of Linde's cabin (4:4; R-Ap. 107).

The informant did not provide her own name or any other identifying information (*see* 4:4; 1:5; 59:4-5; R-Ap. 107). However, officers used "current technology" to obtain the informant's phone number (4:4; R-Ap. 107), including the fact that the number was from "the Portage, Steven[s] Point or Plover area" (1:5). The circuit court, at a motion hearing, stated, "Apparently, [the informant's] identity was obtained at the later date" (59:5). Officers sought to keep the informant's identity and phone number confidential (4:6; 1:5; R-Ap. 109).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Because Linde is male, the State uses feminine pronouns to refer to the informant for sake of clarity. However, the record does not disclose the informant's sex.

After receiving the informant's tip, Forest County officers corroborated that Linde owned a cabin at the address that the informant provided (4:3-4, 6; R-Ap. 106-07, 109). By reviewing sheriff's department records, Forest County officers also learned that Linde was arrested approximately one year earlier for possessing marijuana plants in his truck in Octono County, and that Linde admitted to an Oconto County officer that the plants came from his cabin in Forest County (1:5; 4:3; 59:6-7; R-Ap. 106).

A circuit court commissioner subsequently issued a warrant to search Linde's cabin (8:3). Officers executed the search warrant and seized eighteen marijuana plants, a bong, and containers of dried marijuana (8:3; 5:1-2). Linde filed a motion to suppress the evidence obtained pursuant to the search of his cabin, arguing that the search warrant lacked probable cause (20:1). The circuit court denied the motion and concluded that the informant's tip and the information about Linde's prior arrest provided probable cause to search his cabin (59:3-10).<sup>2</sup>

On appeal, Linde argues that probable cause did not support the search warrant (Linde's Br. at 8-19).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The circuit court denied the motion in part and declined to resolve Linde's argument that a circuit court commissioner has no authority to issue a search warrant, because that issue was then pending before the supreme court (59:10-11). Since then, the supreme court held that a commissioner may issue a search warrant, *State v. (Douglas) Williams*, 2012 WI 59, 341 Wis. 2d 191, 814 N.W.2d 460. Appropriately, Linde has abandoned this argument (Linde's Br. at 6).

Linde is not entitled to relief. Probable cause supported the warrant to search Linde's cabin due to the informant's tip, law enforcement's corroboration that Linde owned a cabin at the address given by the informant, and law enforcement's discovery that Linde had been arrested previously for possessing marijuana plants that came from his cabin. Alternatively, if the search warrant was invalid, nonetheless the circuit court correctly denied the suppression motion because the officers executed the search of Linde's cabin in good faith reliance on the search warrant.

#### B. Applicable legal standards.

"In the search context, probable cause requires a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found in a particular place." *State v. Robinson*, 2010 WI 80, ¶ 26, 327 Wis. 2d 302, 786 N.W.2d 463 (quoted source and quotation marks omitted). "Whether there is probable cause to believe that evidence is located in a particular place is determined by examining the totality of the circumstances." *State v. Ward*, 2000 WI 3, ¶ 26, 231 Wis. 2d 723, 604 N.W.2d 517 (quotation marks and quoted source omitted). "Probable cause does not mean more likely than not." *State v. Erickson*, 2003 WI App 43, ¶ 14, 260 Wis. 2d 279, 659 N.W.2d 407 (citation omitted). "It is only necessary that the information support a reasonable belief that guilt is more than a possibility." *Id.* (citation omitted).

"Considered within the totality of the circumstances, the value and reliability of an informant's tip 'may usefully illuminate the commonsense, practical question whether there is "probable cause" to believe that contraband or evidence is located in a particular place." *Robinson*, 327 Wis. 2d 302, ¶ 27 (quoting *Illinois v. Gates*, 462 U.S. 213, 230 (1983)).

Wisconsin courts "view citizens who purport to have witnessed a crime as reliable, and allow the police to act accordingly, even though other indicia of reliability have not yet been established." State v. Powers, 2004 WI App 143, ¶ 9, 275 Wis. 2d 456, 685 N.W.2d 869 (citing State v. Williams, 2001 WI 21, ¶ 36, 241 Wis. 2d 631, 623 N.W.2d 106). Further, "[b]ecause an informant is right about some things, he is more probably right about other facts." *Robinson*, 327 Wis. 2d 302, ¶ 27 (quoting *Gates*, 462 U.S. at 244) (quotation marks omitted). "That is. police corroboration of innocent, although significant, details of an informant's tip lend reliability to the informant's allegations of criminal activity." Id. (citing Williams, 241 Wis. 2d 631, ¶¶ 39-40). "For purposes of making a practical, commonsense determination of probable cause, that is sufficient." Id. (citing *Gates*, 462 U.S. at 244-45).

"In reviewing whether there was probable cause for the issuance of a search warrant, [the reviewing court] accord[s] great deference to the determination made by the warrant-issuing magistrate." *Ward*, 231 Wis. 2d 723, ¶ 21 (citation omitted). "The magistrate's determination will stand unless the defendant establishes that the facts are clearly insufficient to support a probable cause finding." *Id.* (citation omitted). This "deferential standard of review is appropriate to further the Fourth Amendment's strong preference for searches conducted pursuant to a warrant." *State v. Lopez*, 207 Wis. 2d 413, 425, 559 N.W.2d 264 (Ct. App. 1996) (citation omitted). Although review is deferential, this Court "independently review[s] whether police conduct violated the constitutional guarantee against unreasonable searches, which presents a question of constitutional fact." *State v. Tate*, 2014 WI 89, ¶ 14, 357 Wis. 2d 172, 849 N.W.2d 798 (quoted source and quotation marks omitted).

# C. The informant's tip, coupled with law enforcement's investigation, provided probable cause to search Linde's cabin.

Probable cause to search Linde's cabin was based on the following facts: (1) an informant called the Forest County Sheriff's Department and said that she had personally observed a large marijuana grow operation at Linde's cabin approximately one week earlier (4:4; 8:2-3; R-Ap. 107); (2) the informant provided the address of Linde's cabin (4:4; 8:2; R-Ap. 107); (3) officers subsequently corroborated that Linde owned a cabin at the address provided by the informant (4:3-4; R-Ap. 106-07); and (4) officers learned that Linde was arrested approximately one year earlier for possessing marijuana plants that admittedly came from his cabin (4:3; 59:6-7; R-Ap. 106). These facts are not "clearly insufficient to support a probable cause finding." Ward, 231 Wis. 2d 723, ¶ 21 (citation omitted). In *Robinson*, the supreme court concluded that almost identical facts provided probable cause to search the defendant's residence for marijuana. See Robinson, 327 Wis. 2d 302, ¶¶ 27-29. In *Robinson*, "an anonymous citizen" walked into a police department and told an officer that Robinson "was selling marijuana out of his apartment." Id., ¶ 4. The informant provided Robinson's address and cell phone number. Id. The officer "conducted a warrant check" and learned that Robinson had two open warrants, one of which was for possession or delivery of a controlled substance. Id., ¶ 5.

Several officers then "went to the address identified by the anonymous informant as Robinson's apartment." Id., ¶ 7. The officers did not seek a search warrant because they intended to conduct a "knock and talk."<sup>3</sup> Id. While the officers were outside of the door to Robinson's apartment, an officer called the cell phone number provided by the informant, and a cell phone rang on the inside of the apartment. Id., ¶ 8. An officer knocked on the apartment door and called out Robinson's name, and a male voice on the other side of the door responded, "Yeah." Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Although the police entered Robinson's home without a warrant, the supreme court held that exigent circumstances justified the warrantless entry. *State v. Robinson*, 2010 WI 80, ¶ 31, 327 Wis. 2d 302, 786 N.W.2d 463.

The supreme court concluded that the foregoing facts established probable cause to search Robinson's apartment. Id.,  $\P\P$  27-29. The supreme court reasoned that "the officers corroborated each of the three preliminary details provided by the anonymous informant: Robinson's name, his address, and his cell phone number." Id., ¶ 29. "The officers' corroboration of innocent, although significant, details of the informant's tip lent reliability to the informant's allegation that Robinson was selling marijuana out of his apartment." Id. (citing Williams, 241 Wis. 2d 631, ¶ 40). "The officers may not have corroborated the substantive allegation of criminal activity, but that is not what probable cause demands[.]" Id. (quoting Gates, 462 U.S. at 243 n.13). The supreme court further reasoned that "the officers were cognizant of the fact that Robinson was previously charged with illegal drug activity. That knowledge further lent reliability to the informant's allegation that Robinson was selling marijuana." Id. Moreover, the supreme court reasoned that the informant "jeopardized his anonymity" by going to the police department in person. Id.,  $\P$  28 (citation omitted). The informant's willingness to jeopardize his anonymity and the "specificity of information" he provided that is, Robinson's name, address, and cell phone number and the fact that he was selling marijuana out of his apartment-"supported his credibility." Id.

This case is on all fours with *Robinson*. Like in *Robinson*, the informant here provided Linde's name and

address and said that Linde had marijuana at that address (4:4; 8:2; R-Ap. 107). Further, like in *Robinson*, officers here corroborated that the informant correctly provided Linde's address (4:3-4, 6; R-Ap. 106-07, 109). Like the officers in *Robinson* who learned that the defendant had an outstanding warrant for a drug offense, the officers here learned that Linde was arrested approximately one year earlier for possessing marijuana plants (4:3; 59:6-7; R-Ap. 106). Finally, the informant here, like in *Robinson*, jeopardized her anonymity by contacting police. An informant's use of a traceable phone number may jeopardize his or her anonymity and thus bolster his or her credibility. See Williams, 241 Wis. 2d 631, ¶¶ 35, 37 (lead opinion). Here, law enforcement officers used "currently technology" to obtain the informant's phone number (4:4; R-Ap. 107), and the circuit court stated that they "[a]pparently" obtained the informant's "identity" (59:5).

Although, unlike in *Robinson*, the informant here neither provided Linde's phone number nor spoke to officers in person, the facts supporting probable cause are stronger here because the informant's tip was based on her personal observation (4:4; 8:3; R-Ap. 107). *See Robinson*, 327 Wis. 2d 302, ¶ 28 (noting that "the informant failed to explain how he came to know of the inside information"). Whether an informant explains his or her basis of knowledge of the reported crime "bears significantly on the reliability of the informant." *State v. Kolk*, 2006 WI App 261, ¶ 15, 298 Wis. 2d 99, 726 N.W.2d 337. An informant's tip is inherently reliable if it is based on the informant's personal observation of a crime. *See Powers*, 275 Wis. 2d 456, ¶ 9. Here, the informant personally saw a large marijuana grow operation in Linde's cabin (4:4; 8:3; R-Ap. 107).

Linde tries to analogize his case to cases in which courts determined that an informant's tip, by itself, failed to provide probable cause or reasonable suspicion (Linde's Br. at 11-14, 16-17). However, those cases are distinguishable because the informants in those cases did *not* tell the police that they personally observed the defendants commit a crime and did *not* otherwise explain their basis of knowledge of the defendants' wrongdoing. See Florida v. J.L., 529 U.S. 266, 271 (2000); Gates, 462 U.S. at 225-27; United States v. Danhauer, 229 F.3d 1002, 1006 (10th Cir. 2000); Kolk, 298 Wis. 2d 99, ¶¶ 14-15. As indicated earlier, an informant's personal observation of a crime is significant for establishing probable cause. See Kolk, 298 Wis. 2d 99, ¶¶ 12-15, 19; Powers, 275 Wis. 2d 456, ¶¶ 9-11. Here, the informant explained that her basis of knowledge was her personal observation of several marijuana plants in Linde's cabin (4:4; 8:2-3; R-Ap. 107).

The cases on which Linde relies are further distinguishable because the officers in those cases were unable to corroborate much, if any, useful information provided by the informants. *See J.L.*, 529 U.S. at 271-72; *Danhauer*, 229 F.3d at 1006; *Kolk*, 298 Wis. 2d 99, ¶¶ 16-17;

cf. Gates. 462 U.S. at 243-45 (holding that police corroboration of facts in an otherwise insufficient anonymous letter provided probable cause for a search warrant). Here, the officers significantly corroborated the veracity of the informant's tip by confirming that the informant provided Linde's correct address and by discovering that Linde had previously been arrested for possessing marijuana plants. See Robinson, 327 Wis. 2d 302, ¶ 29.

#### D. Linde's arguments are not persuasive.

Although the foregoing discussion shows that probable cause supported the search warrant, Linde argues that probable cause is lacking here because the factual assertions in the tip and affidavit were insufficient in several respects. Linde is wrong.

For example, Linde suggests that his one-year-old arrest for marijuana possession was stale and thus unreliable to support a finding of probable cause (Linde's Br. at 16, 19). However, that arrest is not stale because marijuana growing is a long-term, continuous activity and because the informant's tip provided recent evidence that Linde's marijuana grow operation was ongoing. See State v. Jones, 2002 WI App 196, ¶ 23, 257 Wis. 2d 319, 651 N.W.2d 305; State v. Loranger, 2002 WI App 5, ¶ 24, 250 Wis. 2d 198, 640 N.W.2d 555. Indeed, Linde's prior arrest indicated that he was growing a large amount of marijuana at his cabin because he was arrested for possessing several marijuana plants, and he admitted that they came from his cabin (4:3; 59:6-7; R-Ap. 106).

Linde also complains that the informant had no personal history of reliability (Linde's Br. at 10-11). However, an informant who purports to have witnessed a crime is inherently reliable, even if the informant has no "history of providing reliable information to law enforcement." Powers, 275 Wis. 2d 456, ¶ 9; see also Ward, 231 Wis. 2d 723, ¶ 35 (holding that the informant was reliable although he had "no past record of reliability"). Here, the informant was inherently reliable because she purported to have witnessed several marijuana plants in Linde's cabin (4:4; 8:2; R-Ap. 107).

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